No. 31868

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

CHARLESTON

Introduction

The parties in this case agree that the standard of review in this case is *de novo* because the issues to be resolved are all legal. The Circuit Court's February 6, 2004 Memorandum Opinion and Order on appeal in this case was based upon application of three principles. First, the Court justified its reversal on the principle of statutory construction that the specific statute be given precedence over a general statute relating to the same subject matter. Second, it ruled that the *Wines* decision was controlling authority. Third, the Circuit Court reasoned that a 1969 repealer provision in Chapter 18A indicating that inconsistent provisions of that Chapter "are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency,"¹ meant that if the Court were to apply a statute adopted in 1992,² it would by implication be repealing the previously adopted provision, which the Court deemed to be prohibited. Each of these three justifications for the Circuit Court's decision reasons will be discussed and applied below, but first a history of the competing statutory Code provisions will be provided.

A. Statutory History

A statutory history is in order because the legal issue to be decided in this case relates to how to resolve the conflict between two inconsistent provisions regarding attorney's fees in school personnel grievance cases.

¹ W.Va. Code §18A-1-2(1969).

² W. VA. Code § 18-29-6.

1. Chapter 18A, Article 2 - School Personnel.

Chapter 18A, Article 2 of the West Virginia Code covers the broad and general topic of school personnel. Originally adopted in 1969, it encompasses a wide range of subjects including leaves of absences, assignment, transfer, demotion, performance evaluations, guidelines for cooks, employment of service personnel, duties of principals, etc. Article 2 contains seventeen (17) sections. Section 11, entitled Employee's right to attorney's fees and costs, was adopted in 1981. This section was the first legislative action making reference to the grievance process. At the time this provision was adopted, all other regulation of grievances and grievance procedures were contained in state school board policies rather than in the state code.

The attorney fee provision in W.Va. Code §18A-2-11 was applicable not just in grievance cases but in all other proceedings brought pursuant to chapters eighteen and eighteen-a. It placed a limit on the amount of attorney's fees that could be collected in a dispute between a county school board and one of its employees. There are two provisos: the first proviso contains a cap on fees for appeals to the Circuit Court and Supreme Court, the second proviso relates to mandamus proceedings and notes that the attorney fee provision is not to be construed to limit fees in mandamus cases.

In 1985, the statutory cap contained in the first provision was raised from \$500 to \$1,000 for a Circuit Court proceeding and from \$500 to \$1,000 for Supreme Court proceedings.³

³ The text of the 1985 version of W.Va. Code §18A-2-11 reads as follows: If an employee shall appeal to a circuit court an adverse decision of either a county board of education or of a hearing examiner rendered in a grievance or other proceeding pursuant to provisions of chapters eighteen and eighteen-a of this code and such person shall substantially prevail, the adverse party or parties shall be liable to such employee, upon final judgment or order, for court costs, and for reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court, for representing such employee in all administrative hearings and before the circuit court and the supreme court of appeals, and

2. Chapter 18, Article 29 - Grievance Procedure

An entirely new statewide administrative grievance process for both state employees and for those employed by school boards was created by statute in 1985. A new Education and State Employees Grievance Board was established, W. Va. Code §18-29-5. The new three person Board was given the power to hire and supervise Hearing Examiners who were to preside at hearings and decide upon grievances in different regions of the state. A four step grievance process was established. W.Va. Code §18-29-4. A new hearing process was established, W.Va. Code §18-29-6, and new provisions were enacted relating to mediation of grievances, W.Va. Code §18-29-10 and for enforcement of decisions of hearing examiners in the Courts, W.Va. Code §18-29-7. Significantly, article 18-29 in its entirety covers one, limited topic - grievances.

Initially, the only statement regarding expenses contained in the new administrative grievance process was that in levels one through three, expenses were to be "bourne by the party incurring such expenses." W. Va. Code §18-29-8. Following this statement on allocation of costs, the original version of the new grievance statute included a section recognizing educational institutions could be liable for attorney's fees in mandamus actions:

§18-29-9 Mandamus proceeding. Any institution failing to comply with the provisions of this article may be compelled to do so by mandamus proceeding and shall be liable to any party prevailing against the institution for court costs and attorney fees, *as determined and established by the court.* (Emphasis added)

shall be further liable to such employee for any court reporter's costs incurred during any such administrative hearings or court proceedings: Provided, That in no event shall such attorney's fees be awarded in excess of a total of one thousand dollars for the administrative hearings and circuit court proceedings nor an additional one thousand dollars for supreme court proceedings: Provided, however, That the requirements of this section shall not be construed to limit the school employee's right to recover reasonable attorney's fees in a mandamus proceeding brought under section eight, article four, chapter eighteen-a of this code.

In 1992, W.Va. Code § 18-29-8 was amended by adding the following language relating to costs in step four to the previously adopted language relating to costs in steps one through three:

...In the event an employee or employer appeals an adverse level four decision to the circuit court or an adverse circuit court decision to the supreme court, and the employee substantially prevails upon such appeal, the employee or the organization representing the employee is entitled to recover court costs and reasonable attorney fees, *to be set by the court*, from the employer. (emphasis added)

The effect was to harmonize the rules for attorney's fees in grievance actions and mandamus actions. After the 1992 amendment, both Code sections (W. Va. Code § 18-29-8 and §18-29-9) provided for equivalent standards for attorney's fees: attorney's fees are to be set by the Court when employees prevail, using a reasonableness standard.

Because W.Va. Code §18A-2-11 was left untouched by the Legislature when the new administrative grievance process, was adopted, a conflict was created over which of the two attorney fee provisions was intended to apply in cases brought under the administrative grievance process. What principles of statutory construction should govern the resolution of this conflict and how those principles should be applied, are issues to be resolved in this case.

B. The Circuit Court Erred in its Application of Rules of Statutory Construction.

The type of statutory conflict in this case has been considered by this court on many occasions in the past. The general rule for interpreting differing statutory sections is that courts should attempt to harmonize them, whenever it is possible to do so:

A statute should be so read and applied as to make it accord with the spirit, purposes and objects of the general system of law of which it is intended to form a part; it being presumed that the legislators who drafted and passed it were familiar with all existing law, applicable to the subject matter, whether constitutional, statutory or common, and intended

that statute to harmonize completely with the same and aid in the effectuation of the general purpose and design thereof, if its terms are consistent therewith. *Bailey v. Norfolk and Western Ry. Co.*, 527 S.E. 2d 516, Syl. Pt. 9 (W.Va. 1999) citing *State v. Snyder*, 63 S.E. 2d 385 (1908).

The Circuit Court correctly held that the two conflicting statutory provisions could not be harmonized. The Court's Order dated February 6, 2004 stated as follows:

The Court cannot reconcile W.Va. Code §18A-2-11[1985] and W.VA. Code §18-29-8 [1992]. Although both pertain to an employee's award of attorney's fees, *one contains a cap while the other does not.* (Page 12, *emphasis added.*)

In cases where two statutory provisions could not be reconciled, more than one rule of statutory construction has been utilized by this Court to resolve the conflict. In most instances, given the Legislature's power to change the law in future sessions, the Court has held that the later passed statute is controlling. *See, for example, State ex rel. Pinson v. Varney*, 96 S.E. 2d 72 (W.Va. 1956). In some cases, often in instances when there have been more than two statutes being interpreted, this Court has held that the code section which is more specific in scope with regard to the subject will control over the section more general in scope. *Carvey v. W.Va. State Bd. of Ed.*, 527 S.E. 2d 831 (W.Va. 1999) (*Carvey* involved two statutes and an administrative regulation.) Finally, there have been cases where this Court has adopted an interpretation that was consistent with both of these rules of statutory construction. *Maxey v. McDowell County Board of Education*, 212 W.Va. 668, 575 S.E.2d 778 (2002). All of these rules of construction will be discussed below, and applied to the facts in this case.

1. There are Serious Practical Problems with "Harmonizing" the Conflicting Statutes by Ignoring the Later Legislative Act.

Although the Circuit Court ruled the two statutes could not be harmonized, the Appellee argued in its Response to the Petition that the conflict between the two sections could be easily resolved by ignoring the change made by the Legislature in 1992. The Appellee suggested that because the language in the two statutes is similar, in order to harmonize the two, the cap contained in the statute passed in 1981 should be regarded as supplementing the provision which omitted the cap in 1992.

There are several serious practical reasons why this suggested interpretation should not be followed. First, and most obviously, such an interpretation deprives the later passed legislative act of all meaning. As this Court has consistently held:

The Legislature must be presumed to know the language employed in former acts, and if in a subsequent statute on the same subject it uses different language in the same connection, the court must presume that a change in the law was intended. Syl. Pt. 2, *Hall v. Baylous*, 109 W.Va. 1, 153 S.E.2d 293 (1930); *Longwell v. Board of Education of County of Marshall*, 213 W.Va. 486, 583 S.E.2d 109 (2003).

The interpretation urged by the Appellee would presume the opposite - it would presume the Legislature in 1992 did not know what it was doing when it used different language on the subject of attorney's fees than had been employed in a different part of the Code in 1981.

The *Longwell* case is instructive. *Longwell* involved two conflicting statutes relating to legal representation for school boards. W. Va. Code §7-4-1, enacted in the early 1900's, imposed a duty upon county prosecutors to represent school boards. As early as 1914, this Court concluded that the duty imposed by this statute did not deprive boards of education of the inherent right to hire counsel under certain circumstances, even though there was no statutory support for this right. A series of cases set forth the type of circumstances under which outside counsel could

be hired. Pursuant to this line of cases, the appellant urged the Court to hold that outside counsel could only be hired in cases of necessity. Subsequent to these case, however, the legislature enacted a section authorizing school boards to hire outside counsel, W.Va. Code § 18-5-13(l) [1971].

The Court ruled that it would not impose a requirement that the Legislature chose to omit, stating: “we find it compelling the fact that W.Va. Code § 18-5-13(l) was enacted without any express requirement for necessity imposed upon the authority of the boards to hire legal counsel, notwithstanding the fact that such a requirement had been imposed under the common law.”

Justice Davis, writing for the Court, also rejected the notion that the two statutes must be read *in pari materia*:

to say that because several statutes relate to the same subject, they must always be read *in pari materia* is an oversimplification of the rule. First, it is apparent that what is meant by statutes related to the same subject matter is an inquiry that is answered by how broadly one defines the phrase “same subject matter.” ...The rule is most applicable to those statutes relating to the same subject matter which are passed at the same time to refer to each other or amend each other. *A diminished applicability may be found where statutes are self-contained and have been enacted at different periods of time. Longwell* at citing also 2A Sutherland Statutory Construction Sec. 51.01 (4th ed. 1973)

Here, following the reasoning in *Longwell*, it would be improper to “harmonize” the two statutes by imposing the cap contained in the 1981 and ignoring the omission of the cap included in a different Code section in 1992. Like in *Longwell*, the two statutory articles, 18A-2 and 18-29 being considered in the case at bar are self-contained and were enacted at different periods of time. Similarly, because the two statutes in two separate articles do not cover exactly the same subject matter,⁴ this Court should not impose a requirement that the Legislature chose to omit.

⁴ See section C, 3 of this Brief, *infra*, which discusses the scope of Article 18A-2 comparing it to the scope of Article 18-29. Among other differing factors, the attorney fee provision in § 18-29-8 is applicable only in statutory grievance procedures while §18A-2-11 applies to any proceedings between employees and School Boards referenced to in Chapter 18

The second reason this Court should not ignore the new language in W.Va. Code § 18-29-8 is because such an interpretation would discourage use of the administrative grievance process. As mentioned in the portion of this Brief relating to statutory history, one effect of the 1992 amendments to W.Va. Code § 18-29-8 was to standardize attorney fee provisions in both administrative grievance process and in mandamus cases. W.Va. Code § 18-29-9 recognized the continuing right of employees to pursue the remedy of mandamus, which under the common law of our state gives rise to attorney's fees approved by the Court in successful cases. With the omission of the statutory cap on fees in the preceding section of the Code, W.Va. Code § 18-29-8, the rules governing attorney's fees in administrative grievances then became the same.

This Court ruled in *Ewing v. Board of Education of Summers County*, 202 W. Va. 228, 503, S.E. 2d 541 (1998) that school employees have the option of proceeding under either the administrative grievance process or through mandamus. The Legislature made major changes to the law when it codified the administrative grievance process in 1985. Using the interpretation urged by the Appellee would discourage the use of the grievance process, since those choosing the grievance process would only be partially reimbursed for expenditures for legal services, while those resorting to litigation in the Courts would receive their full fees, under the reasonableness standard.

It is impossible to presume the Legislature would have intended this result, given the effort expended to create the extensive, four-level system contained in W.Va. Code § 18-29-1 et seq. Such a result would clog the Courts and would penalize school employees who chose the "simple, fair and expeditious"⁵ administrative grievance process.

and Chapter 18A.

⁵ The preamble of the Grievance section states that this is the purpose of the statute. W.Va. Code § 18-29-1.

A third practical problem with “harmonizing” the two statutes at issue by ignoring the omission of the cap on attorney’s fees in the later passed provision is that W.Va. Code § 18-29-8 bars attorney’s fees in the first three levels of the administrative process,⁶ whereas the earlier passed statute permits the award of fees for administrative hearings, with a cap.⁷ The effect of this interpretation would be to create confusion and new conflict, not to mention placing Courts in the difficult position of having to choose which portion of the later passed statute to ignore.

Given these three serious practical problems, the only tenable solution is for the Court to give full effect to the 1992 amendments to W.Va. Code § 18-29-8, by presuming that the Legislature intended to omit the cap on attorney’s fees in the appeal portion of the newly created administrative grievance process, and that it intended to prohibit the award of fees in the first three levels of that process.

2. The Circuit Court Erred in Not Giving Controlling Effect to the Last Enactment of the Legislature.

The most common consistent rule of statutory interpretation this Court has applied to conflicting statutory provision is that the later passed statute is controlling. One of the most frequently cited cases is *State ex rel. Pinson v. Varney*, 96 S.E. 2d 72 (W.Va. 1956). That case involved a dispute relating to the election of a school board member. Statutes regulating those elections were housed in two different places, in the Education section of our Code, Chapter 18,

⁶ The first sentence of W.Va. Code §18-29-8 [1992] provides as follows: “(a)ny expenses incurred relative to the grievance procedure at levels one through three shall be borne by the party incurring such expenses except as to the costs of transcriptions as provided for in section six of this article.”

⁷W.Va. Code § 18A-2-11 makes explicit reference to the allowance of fees in administrative hearings: “If an employee shall appeal...the adverse party..shall be lieable..for reasonable attorney’s fees, to be set by the court, *for representing such employee in all administrative hearings* and before the circuit court and the supreme court of appeals...”

as well as in the Elections section, Chapter 3. The Court was unable to resolve the conflict between the two statutes and held that the later passed statute must be given precedence:

In 1985, Justice Miller writing for the Court, followed the *Pinson* reasoning with respect to a juvenile sentencing issue in *State v. Ball*, 175 W.Va. 652, 337 S.E. 2nd 310 (W.Va. 1985). One Code section, W.Va. Code §29-4-6, which had been adopted in 1955, allowed the Court to suspend sentences of juveniles and commit them to institutions other than the penitentiary if they pled guilty to a crime “other than an offense punishable by life imprisonment.” In contrast, W.Va. Code §49-5-13(e), adopted in 1978, provided that “notwithstanding any other provision of this Code to the contrary,” a child transferred to adult jurisdiction could be sentenced as a juvenile in the discretion of the court, and therefore need not be confined in the penitentiary. The Supreme Court held that the inconsistency between the two statutes should be resolved in favor of W. Va. Code §49-5-13, since it was the most recent enactment.

State ex rel. DHHR v. Pub. Emp. Ret. Sys., 393 S.E. 2d 677 (W.Va. 1990) involved a conflict between the Code section relating to the state Public Employee’s Retirement System, enacted in 1961, which banned any type of execution or attachment, and the later passed Family Obligations Enforcement Act, which set up a procedure for withholding income of persons found obligated to pay child support. Justice Neely, writing for the Court, stated that “(w)e are of the opinion that this provision of the Public Employees Retirement Act was implicitly superceded in part by passage in 1986 of the Family Obligations Enforcement Act...” *Id.*, 393 S.E. 2d at 680. Citing *Pinson*, the Court held that the Legislature intended to carve out an exception to the protection of public pensions from legal process when it adopted the new Child Support legislation.

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