No. 31868

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

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

As enacted in 1985, West Virginia Code Section 18-29-8 stated in its entirety:

Any expenses incurred relative to the grievance procedure at levels one through three shall be borne by the party incurring such expenses.

W. Va. Code § 18-29-8 (1985).

As amended in 1985, Section 18A-2-11 states in its entirety:

If an employee shall appeal to a circuit court an adverse decision of either a county board of education or of a hearing examiner rendered in a grievance or other proceeding pursuant to provisions of chapters eighteen and eighteen-a of this code and such person shall substantially prevail, the adverse party or parties shall be liable to such employee, upon final judgment or order, for court costs, and for reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court, for representing such employee in all administrative hearings and before the circuit court and the supreme court of appeals, and shall be further liable to such employee for any court reporter's costs incurred during any such administrative hearings or court proceedings: Provided, That in no event shall such attorney's fees be awarded in excess of a total of [\$1,000] for the administrative hearings and circuit court proceedings nor an additional [\$1,000] for supreme court proceedings: Provided, however, That the requirements of this section shall not be construed to limit the school employee's right to recover reasonable attorney's fees in a mandamus proceeding brought under [West Virginia Code Section 18A-4-8].

W.Va. Code § 18A-2-11(1985) (some emphasis in original; some emphasis added).

In 1992, the West Virginia Legislature passed an act, *inter alia*, to amend Sections 18-29-1 and 18-29-8 relating to grievance procedures for education employees and "authorizing court to set costs and reasonable attorneys fees to employee prevailing upon appeal to circuit court or supreme court." The amendments to Section 18-29-1, relate to the abolishment of the board of regents and are not relevant to this appeal. As amended in 1992, Section 18-29-8, reads in its entirety:

Any expenses incurred relative to the grievance procedure at levels one through three shall be borne by the party incurring such expenses except as to the costs of transcriptions as provided for in section six of this article.

In the event an employee or employer appeals an adverse level four decision to the circuit court or an adverse circuit court decision to the supreme court, and the employee substantially prevails upon such appeal, the employee or the organization representing the employee is entitled to recover court costs and *reasonable attorney fees, to be set by the court*, from the employer.

W. Va. Code §18-29-8 (1992) (emphasis added).

C. Canons of Statutory Construction.

This Court has held that in any search for the meaning or proper applications of a statute, it should first resort to the language itself. *Maikotter v. University of W. Va. Bd. of Trs. W. Va. Univ.*, 206 W. Va. 691, 527 S.E.2d 802, 807 (1999). "Where the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation." *Id.* (citations omitted); *Michael v. Marion County Bd. of Educ.*, 198 W. Va. 523, 482 S.E.2d 140 (1996); *Byrd v. Board of Educ.*, 196 W. Va. 1, 467 S.E.2d 142 (1995). *Cf. Keatley v. Mercer County Bd. of Educ.*, 200 W. Va. 487, 490 S.E.2d 306, 311 n. 7 (1997) (observing that legislative intent, rather than strict language, controls in rare case in which literal application of statute will produce result demonstrably at odds with intentions of drafters). Accordingly, when a statute is clear and unambiguous and the legislative intent is plain, it is the duty of this Court not to interpret or to

construe the statute but to simply apply the statute. *Carvey v. West Virginia State Bd. of Educ.*, 206 W. Va. 720, 527 S.E.2d 831 (1999).

In addition, this Court has held that "[i]n ascertaining legislative intent, effect must be given to each part of the statute and to the statute as a whole so as to accomplish the general purpose of the legislation." *Keatley*, 490 S.E.2d at 310 (citations omitted). See *Smith v. United States*, 508 U.S. 223, 113 S. Ct. 2050, 124 L. Ed. 2d 138 (1993) (observing that "[t]he meaning of a word that appears ambiguous if viewed in isolation [will] become clear when the word is analyzed in light of the terms that surround it"). Thus, courts apply the canon of statutory construction called *noscitur a sociis* to hold that a word is known by the company it keeps. *Keatley*, 490 S.E.2d at 314 n. 10; *Martin v. Randolph County Bd. of Educ.*, 195 W. Va. 297, 465 S.E.2d 399, 414 n. 10 (1995). Cf. *Osborne v. United States*, 211 W. Va. 667, 567 S.E.2d 677 (2002) (explaining that in the interpretation of statutes, words and phrases therein are often limited in meaning and effect by necessary implications arising from other words or clauses thereof).

Moreover, the legislature is presumed to know of prior enactments and have full knowledge of all laws in the area in which it acts. *West Virginia Educ. Ass'n v. Preston County Bd. of Educ.*, 171 W. Va. 38, 297 S.E.2d 444, 447 n. 3 (1982). Accordingly, where a statute contains several sections relating to the same subject, the section that is more specific with regard to the subject will control over the more general section. *State by W. Va. Dept. of Motor Vehicles v. Hillyard*, 172 W. Va. 605, 309 S.E.2d 105 (1983); *Cropp v. State Workmen's Comp. Comm'r*, 160 W. Va. 621, 236 S.E.2d 480 (1977).

Finally, in *Ebbert v. Tucker*, 123 W. Va. 385, 15 S.E.2d 583 (1941), this Court held:

In the construction of a statute, a court should seek to avoid any conflict in its provisions by endeavoring to reconcile every word, section, or part thereof, so that each shall be effective.

Where a statute lends itself to two construction, one of which will result in an irreconcilable conflict between its provisions and the other will result in no conflict, the construction resulting in no conflict should be adopted.

Where there is a conflict between two parts of a single act, the one latest in position will be declared to be the law, as containing the latest expression of the legislative will, *but that rule of construction should be applied only where there exists an irreconcilable conflict between different sections of the same act, and after there are no other means available for ascertaining the legislative intent.*

Id. at Syl. Pts. (Emphasis added). See also *Kelley & Moyers v. Bowman*, 68 W. Va. 49, 69 S.E.2d 456 (1910) (holding that clearly expressed intent by plain words in one part of statute cannot be defeated by mere implication from doubtful clause in another part, and that if subsequent clause in statute is obscure, it will not control previous clear clause).

D. The Provisions in Section 18A-2-11 do not Conflict with, but Rather Supplement, the Provision in Section 18-29-8.

This Court should affirm the circuit court's judgment because the provisions in West Virginia Code Section 18A-2-11 do not conflict with, but rather supplement the provision in West Virginia Code Section 18-29-8. Both Sections 18A-2-11 and 18-29-8 specify that an employee who substantially prevails is entitled to "reasonable attorney[']s fees, to be set by the court."² Section 18A-2-11, which is specifically limited in its application to employees of county boards of education in certain proceedings, supplements Section 18-29-8 by defining "reasonable attorney[']s fee, to be

²The only distinction between these provisions is purely grammatical. Section 18A-2-11 uses the possessive term "attorney's fees," while Section 18-29-8 uses the simple term "attorney fees." This grammatical distinction makes no legal difference.

set by the court" as limited to "a total of [\$1,000] for the administrative hearings and circuit court proceedings [and] an additional [\$1,000] for supreme court proceedings." ³

Section 18A-2-11 is a textbook example of the application of *noscitur a soliis* – the term "reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court" in Section 18A-2-11 is known by the company it keeps, and that company is "a total of [\$1,000] for the administrative hearings and circuit court proceedings [and] an additional [\$1,000] for supreme court proceedings." The modifying phrase in Section 18A-2-11 indicates that the term "reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court" has a more specific connotation in that section than in Section 18-29-8, where no modifier is used. *See Keatley v. Mercer County Bd. of Educ.*, 200 W. Va. 487, 490 S.E.2d 306, 314 n. 14 (1997) (applying *noscitur a soliis* to hold that the fact that term "experience" was modified by terms "amount" and "existence" in separate provisions of statute, counsel in favor of "experience" taking on different connotations depending upon different modifiers).

Furthermore, because the legislature is presumed to know of prior enactments and to have full knowledge of all laws in the area in which it acts, *see West Virginia Educ. Ass'n v. Preston County Bd. of Educ.*, 171 W. Va. 38, 297 S.E.2d 444, 447 n. 3 (1982), the specific provisions in

³This limitation is expressed in a proviso. In *State v. Ellsworth*, 175 W. Va. 64, 331 S.E.2d 503, Syl. Pt. 2 (1985), this Court held that "[t]he function of a proviso in a statute is to modify, restrain, or conditionally qualify the preceding subject to which it refers." *See also Robbins v. McDowell County Bd. of Educ.*, 186 W. Va. 141, 411 S.E.2d 466, Syl. Pt. 5 (1991). Similarly, it has been stated that "[p]rovisos serve the purpose of restricting the operative effect of statutory language to less than what its scope of operation would be otherwise." *State ex rel. Browne v. Hechler*, 197 W. Va. 612, 476 S.E.2d 559, 561 (1996) (citations omitted). *See also* 1A Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutes & Statutory Construction* § 21:6 (stating that "[w]hen an act is drafted in general terms its limitation may be achieved through the use of the proviso, exception, or saving clause"). As this Court observed in *Charter Communications VI, PLLC v. Community Antenna Service, Inc.*, 211 W. Va. 71, 561 S.E.2d 793, 798 (2002), provisos should be construed using the same general rules of construction applied to other kinds of statutory terms.

Section 18A-2-11 control to supplement the more general provision in Section 18-29-8. *See State by W. Va. Dept. of Motor Vehicles v. Hillyard*, 172 W. Va. 605, 309 S.E.2d 105 (1983); *Cropp v. State Workmen's Comp. Comm'r*, 160 W. Va. 621, 236 S.E.2d 480 (1977).

This Court has held that "[r]epeal of statutes by implication is not favored and can arise only in cases of irreconcilable conflict or inconsistency." *Smith v. Siders*, 155 W. Va. 193, 183 S.E.2d 433, 437 (1971). *Longwell v. Board of Education*, 213 W. VA. 486, 583 S.E.2d 109 (2003), which is cited by the Amici actually supports HCBOE's position. In that case, this Court expressly stated that it found *no* that there was no conflict between the two statutes at issue. *Id.*, 583 S.E.2d at 115.

Specifically, the Court held:

When a county board of education is in need of legal services, it may exercise its own discretion in determining whether to utilize the services of the county prosecuting attorney, who has a duty to represent it under W. Va. Code § 7-4-1 (1971) (Repl. Val. 2000), or to hire its own legal counsel pursuant to West Virginia Code § 18-5-13(I) (2002) (Supp. 2002).

Id. at Syl. Pt. 4.

Thus, in *Longwell* this Court found meaning in both statutes. *See also Rite Aid of W. Va. v. City of Charleston*, 189 W. Va. 707, 434 S.E.2d 379, 381 (1993) (holding that statute prohibiting municipalities from imposing tax or fee as condition upon exercise of state-granted retail liquor license was not repealed by implication upon legislature's amendment of Liquor Control Act).⁴

⁴Contrary to Buffey's argument, a holding that Section 18A-2-11 supplements Section 18-29-8 would not deprive Section 18-29-8 of all meaning. As discussed above, Section 18-29-8 applies not only to employees of county boards of education, but also to employees of the governing boards of higher education, state boards of education, regional educational service agencies and multi-county vocational centers. It applies without limitation, except where it is supplemented by another statute such as Section 18A-2-11 and 29-6A-10, which is discussed below. By contrast, a holding that Section 18-29-8 controls would render Section 18A-2-11 meaningless.

Construing West Virginia law, the Fourth Circuit has recognized that repeal by implication is not favored, and has applied the rule that the specific statute should control over the general. In *Niagra Fire Insurance Co. v. Raleigh Hardware Co.*, 62 F.2d 705 (4th Cir. 1933), the court explained the rule as follows:

The rule is well settled that 'where there are two statutes upon the same subject, the earlier being special and the later general, the presumption is, in the absence of an express repeal, or an absolute incompatibility, that the special is intended to remain in force as an exception to the general.'

'The reason and philosophy of the rule is, that when the mind of the legislator has been turned to the details of a subject, and he has acted upon it, a subsequent statute in general terms or treating the subject in a general manner, and not expressly contradicting the original act, shall not be considered as intended to affect the more particular or positive previous provisions, unless it is absolutely necessary to give the latter act such a construction in order that its words shall have any meaning at all.'

Id. at 709. See also *Kelley & Moyers v. Bowman*, 68 W. Va. 49, 69 S.E. 456 (1910) (holding that subsequent clause in statute which is obscure does not control over previous clear clause).

In this action as well, repeal by implication is not warranted because the provisions in West Virginia Code Section 18A-2-11 do not conflict with, but rather supplement the provision in West Virginia Code Section 18-29-8. Indeed, this Court has previously held that Chapter 18A supplements Chapter 18 of the West Virginia Code. See *Smith*, 183 S.E.2d at 437. In *Smith*, this Court held that in a case in which a county superintendent of schools was removed from office by the county board of education and the superintendent appealed from the action of the board to the state superintendent pursuant to West Virginia Code Section 18A-2-8, the action of the state superintendent in entertaining the appeal and in reversing the action of the county board of education was void because no notice of the appeal was given to the board of education and no opportunity to

be heard in the appellate proceedings was afforded the county board of education or the individual members thereof. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 2. The Court explained:

Code, 1931, 18A-1-2, as enacted in 1969, provides that any other provisions of the Code "which are inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter, are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency." No other provision of the Code, by specific reference, is expressly repealed by Chapter 18A. If any other statutory provision is thereby repealed, it must, therefore, necessarily be a repeal by implication. Repeal of statutes by implication is not favored and can arise only in cases of irreconcilable conflict or inconsistency. *State ex rel. Warder v. Gainer*, 153 W. Va. 35, pt. 6 syl., 167 S.E.2d 290; *State ex rel. City of Wheeling v. Renick*, 145 W. Va. 640, pts. 1 and 2 syl., 116 S.E.2d 763. *We do not perceive any such inconsistency between any of the provisions of Chapter 18 and any of the provisions of Chapter 18A. Both relate to public schools, county boards of education, personnel employed by such boards and other related matters.* Code, 1931, 18-4-3, as amended, and Section 8 of Article 2 of Chapter 18A, as amended, relate to removal of county superintendents by county boards of education. The two statutes provide quite similar grounds for removal. *The statutes, generally speaking, relate to the same subject matter. The two chapters of the Code, though not enacted at the same time, should be considered in pari materia and, therefore, they should be read and considered together.* *State v. Reel*, 152 W. Va. 646, pt. 1 syl., 165 S.E.2d 813; *State ex rel. Campbell v. Wood*, 151 W. Va. 807, pt. 1 syl., 155 S.E.2d 893; *Owens-Illinois Glass Company v. Battle*, 151 W. Va. 655, pt. 1 syl., 154 S.E.2d 854. The provision in Chapter 18A for appeal to the State Superintendent of Schools is perhaps supplemental to but not in conflict with any provision of Chapter 18.

Id., 183 S.E.2d at 437 (emphasis added).

In addition, in *Harmon v. Fayette County Bd. of Educ.*, 205 W. Va. 125, 516 S.E.2d 748, 751 (1999), this Court held that, in light of facts that West Virginia Code Section 18A-1-2 repealed provisions of law inconsistent with Chapter 18A and that Chapters 18 and 18A are to be read *in pari materia*, attendance employees should be considered "school personnel" as defined in West Virginia Code Section 18A-1-1(a). Accordingly, the Court proceeded with the premise that the appellants in that case were "school personnel who are subject to the definitions and distinctions in Chapter 18A." *Id.* See also *State ex rel. Boner v. Kanawha County Bd. of Educ.*, 197 W. Va. 176, 475

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